FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/23/2019 1:58 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/27/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97583-3

No. 77531-6-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### KATHLEEN MANCINI,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW OF KATHLEEN MANCINI

Lori S. Haskell, WSBA #15779 7511 Greenwood Ave N Ste 314 Seattle, WA 98103 (206) 728-1905 Gary Manca, WSBA #42798 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner Kathleen Mancini

#

#### A. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals decision leaves innocent people without a civil state-law remedy for police officers' negligence in invading private homes. It also creates a broad new rule insulating municipalities from liability for negligence claims "related to the evidence gathering aspects" of any police "investigation." *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, No. 77531-6-I, slip op. at 9, 11 (2019) ("*Mancini* II"). *See* Appendix.

The police here broke and entered into an innocent person's home, misidentifying her home as a drug dealer's. She then claimed negligence against the City of Tacoma. At trial, the jury was instructed to find for the City if the police had probable cause and stayed within the scope of the search warrant. The jury found against the City. But Division I vacated the verdict. If the police had caught the plaintiff committing a crime, the exclusionary rule would have given her a remedy. Because she was innocent, however, Division I's opinion left her with no remedy.

This Court's review is needed to decide two significant questions of law. Review is needed also to clarify the proper analytical framework for courts to determine whether a police officer was under an actionable duty of care in the aftermath of *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Communication Center*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 288 P.3d 328, 336 (2012) and *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_, 442 P.3d 608 (2019).

#### B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Kathleen Mancini, the respondent below.

#### C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion in Cause No.

77531-6-I on May 13, 2019 and denied reconsideration on July 24, 2019.

#### D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. What is the proper analytical framework for determining whether a police officer was under a tort-law duty of reasonable care in a case involving police action directed at a specific individual or their home?

2. Do law-enforcement officers in Washington owe a tort-law duty to the individual resident of a private home to exercise reasonable care ensuring that, before breaking and entering into that home, the individual is not engaged in criminal activity in their home or housing evidence of a crime there?

3. Do law-enforcement officers in Washington owe a tort-law duty to the individual resident of a private home, when executing a search warrant, to release that resident from handcuffs when the officers know or, in the exercise of reasonable care, should know that the warrant mistakenly identified the home as the site of criminal activity?

#### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### (1) Factual History

A known drug user approached a Tacoma police officer with a tip.

Ex. 103; RP 48. Officer Kenneth Smith had used this drug user as an informant twice before in drug investigations. RP 48. This drug user told Officer Smith that a man named "Matt" was dealing drugs. Officer Smith later figured the man's last name was Logstrom. For the next month, Officer

Smith did not follow up on the tip or apply for a warrant. RP 42-43, 46.

Officer Smith then met again with this drug user, who told him that she saw drugs in Logstrom's apartment in King County. RP 46-48. Officer Smith and a colleague drove out of their jurisdiction, from Pierce County to Federal Way, to view the apartment complex identified by the drug user. RP 47-48, 132. The drug user pointed to one of the units. RP 47-48. The drug user claimed Logstrom was living in the apartment but that it was rented under his mother's name. RP 220, 255.

Officer Smith ran a check on the apartment number and found it was rented under the name Kathleen Mancini. RP 51, 261-62. Officer Smith just assumed that Mancini was Logstrom's mother (she wasn't); Officer Smith did not verify that fact. RP 52-53, 221. In 95% of his drug investigations, Officer Smith attempts a "controlled buy" and surveils to confirm the tipster's report. RP 49-50. He did neither here. RP 58. Still, Officer Smith applied for a search warrant for Mancini's apartment. Ex. 103; CP 177-79.

Mancini was not a drug dealer, but a five-foot-tall, 60-year-old nurse. RP 308, 375, 403, 407. She worked from home on the night shift for Group Health's on-call telephone triage service. RP 368-69, 407. Early one winter morning, Mancini completed her shift and went to bed. RP 369-70. Meanwhile, Tacoma police assembled outside her apartment. Officer Smith was among the officers. Mancini awoke to shaking and sounds that made her think she was experiencing an earthquake. RP 370. Mancini stepped out of her bedroom. RP 371. A swarm of men rushed towards her pointing guns. RP 371-72. The men wore black and concealed their faces with visors. They screamed at her to get down. RP 371-72. Mancini did not realize they were police officers. RP 373. The men pushed Mancini onto the floor, handcuffed her hands behind her back, and then dragged her outside her home. RP 228-29, 371, 374. The officers kept her in cuffs outside in the winter cold, refusing to allow her to cover herself. RP 230-31, 374-82.

As soon as Officer Smith entered Mancini's apartment, he knew "immediately" they invaded the wrong apartment. Ex. 1; RP 235-36. (Logstrom lived in a different unit in the complex. RP 237.) But Officer Smith and his colleagues did not promptly free Mancini. RP 230-31, 374-88. Instead, they left her in cuffs outside while asking her questions. *Id.* 

#### (2) <u>Procedural History</u>

Mancini brought suit against the City of Tacoma. CP 1-2. The trial court granted summary judgment to the defense, and Mancini appealed. Division I reversed and remanded for trial. *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 188 Wn. App. 1006, 2015 WL 3562229 (2015) ("*Mancini* I") (unpublished).

At trial, the City made an oral motion for judgment as a matter of law. RP 486-504. The trial court denied the motion. RP 510. The jury was instructed on claims of negligence, invasion of privacy, false imprisonment, and assault and battery. CP 510-17. The jury was instructed on the City's affirmative defense that its police officers acted within the scope of a valid search warrant supported by probable cause. CP 519-21; Appendix. The jury decided for Mancini on her claim of negligence, awarding her \$250,000, and for the City on her other claims. CP 526-29; Appendix.

On the City's appeal, Division I focused on whether Mancini's claim was for "negligent investigation." *Mancini* II, No. 77531-6-I, slip op. at 8-11. Citing several Court of Appeals opinions, Division I concluded that "Washington common law does not recognize a claim for negligent investigation," especially against police. *Id.* at 8-9 (quotation omitted). Without considering the portion of Mancini's negligence claim based on the police's failure to release Mancini immediately once their mistake was clear, Division I vacated the verdict. Division I then denied reconsideration, even after the newly decided *Beltran-Serrano* was brought to its attention.

#### F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court has frequently granted review to provide guidance on the scope of municipal liability for police negligence. *E.g.*, *Beltran-Serrano*, 442 P.3d at 611; *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 746, 753, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013); *Robb v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 432-33, 295 P.3d 212 (2013). This Court should again, because this case meets the criteria for review. Division I's decision "is in conflict" with this Court's

decisions, RAP 13.4(b)(1), for three main reasons. First, Division I's refusal to recognize a tort-law duty of reasonable care clashes with negligence law. Second, its conclusion ignores this Court's recent opinions on the publicduty doctrine. Third, its decision conflicts with this Court's views on the scope of government liability in light of the legislative waiver of sovereign immunity. Even if Division I's decision were reconcilable with this Court's teachings, review would be warranted because the jury's verdict necessarily raises "a significant question" of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Division I's opinion leaves innocent people in this state without any civil state-law remedy for the careless invasions of their homes by police. On that ground alone, this case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Whichever way Division I's opinion is sliced, review should be granted.

(1) <u>Division I's Decision Conflicts with Core Principles of</u> Negligence Law Reconfirmed Recently in *Beltran-Serrano* 

In both its analysis and its conclusion, Division I's decision conflicts with the core principles of negligence law adopted by this Court, in two ways. First, Division I neither cited nor applied the proper standard for determining whether the defendant in a civil case is under a tort-law duty of reasonable care to the plaintiff. When making that determination, courts are required to weigh "mixed considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent." *Stalter v. State*, 151 Wn.2d 148, 155, 86 P.3d 1159 (2004) (quotation omitted). Although Division I stated its focus was "on the duty alleged to have been breached," *Mancini* II, No. 77531-6-I, slip op. at 9 n.9, Division I confined the duty question to a footnote. Division I seemed to simply assume a negligence claim was unavailable "[b]ecause the evidence of negligence presented at trial related to the evidence gathering aspects of Officer Smith's investigation." *Id.* at 11. But Division I reached that conclusion without considering common sense, justice, and policy.

Division I did not cite any precedent for whether the police owe a duty of reasonable care when invading a private home. In a string cite, Division I lumped together several Court of Appeals decisions on "negligent investigation." *Mancini* II, No. 77531-6-I, slip op. at 8-9 (collecting cases). But Division I did not consider the distinctions among those decisions or their applicability to a police invasion of a private home. In *Janaszak v. State*, 173 Wn. App. 703, 297 P.3d 723 (2013), the claim was a botched investigation leading to the suspension of a dental license. *Id.* at 725-26. In *Fondren v. Klickitat County*, 79 Wn. App. 850, 905 P.2d 928 (1995), the claim was for the sheriff's office mishandling an investigation which resulted in the criminal prosecution of the plaintiff. *Id.* at 862-63. In *Fondren*, though, unlike here, the jury's guilty verdict presumptively established probable cause. *Id.* at 856. In *Donaldson v. City of Seattle*, 65

Wn. App. 661, 831 P.2d 1098 (1992), the court held police officers do not have an affirmative duty to initiate a follow-up investigation of a domestic-violence incident. *Id.* at 671. In *Dever v. Fowler*, 63 Wn. App. 35, 39, 816 P.2d 1237 (1991), *amended by*, 824 P.2d 1237 (1992), the court held a fire department investigator was not liable in negligence for identifying the plaintiff as an arsonist. *Id.* at 38-39, 44-45. None of these cases involved a police officer's decision to break into a home or to keep a person in cuffs upon realizing that a search warrant identified the wrong apartment.

Second, Division I's conclusion does not square with the commonlaw duty of reasonable care that underlies claims of negligence against the police. Not all cases are alike when police officers commit "negligence occurring during the authorized evidence gathering aspects of police work." *Mancini* II, No. 77531-6-I, slip op. at 9. Mancini did not claim damages based on the police's *nonfeasance*—that is, a choice not to commence or continue an investigation, as in *Donaldson*, 65 Wn. App. 661, or the failure to protect her from a third party, as in *Robb*, 176 Wn.2d 427. Rather, she claimed damages based on the police's *misfeasance* after choosing to take affirmative action—the police negligently invading the wrong home and then detaining her even after realizing their mistake.

When police officers choose to take affirmative action, they, like anyone else in this state, are under a duty of reasonable care to avoid

creating unreasonable risks of harm to persons and property. The duty is well established in the common law. See, e.g., Restatement (Second) of Torts § 302 cmt. a. And in Beltran-Serrano, this Court left no doubt that this duty applies to police officers who choose to affirmatively direct their official acts at an individual: "Under Washington common law, the City owes a duty to refrain from causing foreseeable harm in the course of law enforcement interactions with individuals." 442 P.3d at 615. This Court held that the plaintiff could thus claim negligence based on the police officer's affirmative acts leading up to shooting the plaintiff. Id. at 610, 615. Division I, by not recognizing here that this duty of care applied both to the police breaking into Mancini's home and to the officers keeping her in cuffs after realizing the error, reached a conclusion that conflicts with the principles reconfirmed in *Beltran-Serrano*.<sup>1</sup> Whatever concern Division I might have had about holding municipalities liable for police negligence, Beltran-Serrano rejected that concern: "Washington courts have long recognized the potential for tort liability based on the negligent performance of law enforcement activities." Id. at 611 (collecting cases).

Although this Court has no precedent involving identical facts, its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A passage may be read out of context in *Ducote v. State*, 167 Wn.2d 697, 222 P.3d 785 (2009) to mean that the common law never recognizes a negligence claim arising from an official investigation. But *Ducote* concerned only the duty of social workers to stepparents when investigating allegations of child abuse.

prior cases suggest that police have a duty of reasonable care in these circumstances—both leading up to the act of breaking down the door, and upon realizing that they have entered the wrong home. In Bender v. City of Seattle, 99 Wn.2d 582, 664 P.2d 492 (1983), this Court held that municipalities are not immune from liability for civil claims based on a careless police investigation. Id. at 587-90. Although the plaintiff claimed only malicious prosecution, false arrest, false imprisonment, and libel and slander, nothing in Bender suggested the result would have been different if the plaintiff had included negligence in the complaint. Then, in *Turngren* v. King County, 104 Wn.2d 293, 705 P.2d 258 (1985), this Court rejected the proposed rule that only an intentional tort-malicious prosecution-is available when the police execute a search warrant that lacks probable cause. Id. at 302. In Brutsche v. City of Kent, 164 Wn.2d 664, 193 P.3d 110 (2008), this Court held that police officers may be liable for trespass for their intentional acts exceeding the scope of a search warrant. Id. at 675, 679. Although this Court declined to reach the plaintiff's negligence claim, Brutsche approved § 214 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. Id. at 675. 679. That authority, in turn, explains that "[a] privilege to enter land may be unreasonably exercised ... by any negligence in the manner in which the privilege is exercised." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 214 cmt. a. Of course, Mancini did not claim intentional trespass, but a negligence claim

is functionally identical to a trespass claim under § 214(1) based on negligence. See Restatement (Second) of Torts § 497 (explaining that negligence principles apply to claims based on injury to the person and property alike). Under this body of law, a negligence claim was not foreclosed. The officers should have exercised reasonable care to ensure that they were not breaking down the door of an innocent person. Just as the police may be liable under *Beltran-Serrano* for negligence leading up to the intentional act of pulling a gun's trigger, the police may be liable for negligence leading up to breaking down a person's door.

Precedent is even stronger in support of recognizing a common-law duty of reasonable care to release Mancini upon Officer Smith "immediately" realizing the misidentification. At common law, corrections officers have a well-established duty to release detainees whom the officers know or should know are being held without justification, including due to misidentification. *Stalter*, 151 Wn.2d at 157; *Tufte v. City of Tacoma*, 71 Wn.2d 866, 870-72, 431 P.2d 183 (1967). There is no principled reason for applying this duty in the setting of a jail but not in the setting of a private home, where the interests in liberty and privacy weigh even more strongly in favor of releasing the detainee immediately.

Still, from its own selection of cases, Division I extrapolated a general rule barring negligence claims that include any "assertions of negligence occurring during the authorized evidence gathering aspects of police work." *Mancini* II, No. 77531-6-I, slip op. at 9. The new rule sweeps broadly, as virtually every police action can be characterized as stemming from "evidence gathering," including the actions in *Beltran-Serrano* that were held sufficient to support a claim for negligence. Division I's new rule is so broad, in fact, that it freed Tacoma police from using reasonable care to release Mancini immediately. Review is proper under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

#### (2) <u>Division I's Decision Conflicts with the Proper Analysis of</u> Tort-Law Claims Under the Public-Duty Doctrine

Division I's decision conflicts with the proper analysis of commonlaw tort claims under the public-duty doctrine, as clarified in *Munich* and recently applied in *Beltran-Serrano*. The public-duty doctrine arose from the analytical challenges of applying the Legislature's waiver of sovereign immunity. *See generally, Munich*, 175 Wn.2d at 887-91 (Chambers, J., concurring) (discussing this historical context). The doctrine was never meant to create a judicial backdoor for reinstating sovereign immunity. *Osborn v. Mason Cty.*, 157 Wn.2d 18, 27, 134 P.3d 197 (2006). Rather, it developed on a case-by-case basis to give effect to the Legislature's intent to establish government liability without expanding that liability beyond the scope of RCW 4.92.090 and RCW 4.96.010. *Chambers-Castanes v. King Cty.*, 100 Wn.2d 275, 288, 669 P.2d 451 (1983). At bottom, the doctrine is simply a "focusing tool." Osborn, 157 Wn.2d at 27 (quotation omitted).

Over time, however, this Court began characterizing the doctrine as a "general rule" foreclosing government liability unless an "exception" applied. *See, e.g., Cummins v. Lewis Cty.*, 156 Wn.2d 844, 853, 133 P.3d 458, 462 (2006); *Bishop v. Miche*, 137 Wn.2d 518, 530, 973 P.2d 465, 471 (1999). This Court began to speak as though plaintiffs needed to show "a *special* duty of care owed to a particular plaintiff or a limited class of potential plaintiffs." *Bailey v. Town of Forks*, 108 Wn.2d 262, 268, 737 P.2d 1257 (1987) (emphasis added). This evolution neglected the Legislature's directive to impose liability "to the same extent" as if government entities "were a private person or corporation." RCW 4.92.090; RCW 4.96.010.

Corrective action came in *Munich*, and this Court finished the job in its recent opinion in *Beltran-Serrano*. As this Court clarified, the publicduty doctrine is not applied in every case where a civil claim for damages is brought against a government defendant. *Beltran-Serrano*, 442 P.3d at 614; *Munich*, 175 Wn.2d at 91-95 (Chambers, J., concurring opinion signed by five justices). Rather, the doctrine's analytical framework applies only when a claim for damages is based on a public duty—that is, "when special governmental obligations are imposed by statute or ordinance." *Beltran-Serrano*, 442 P.3d at 614. A threshold question must be asked: is the claim based on a well-established common-law duty that applies equally to a private person or corporation?

Division I may have been tripped up by the police activity at issue. But Mancini's negligence claim was not based on the police's special statutory obligation to investigate crime. Rather, she claimed a breach of the police's common-law duty of reasonable care arising from the police's volitional, affirmative acts. Under *Munich* and *Beltran-Serrano*, Division I should have kept its focus on the common-law duty at issue, not concerned itself with the overlapping official duty. Division I's reasoning conflicts with this Court's analytical framework for the public-duty doctrine, and this Court should grant review to provide further guidance to the bench and bar on how the doctrine applies.

> (3) Division I's Opinion Entrenches a De-Facto Immunity for Municipalities for Police Negligence in Conflict with the Legislature's Waiver of Sovereign Immunity

Division I's opinion creates a de-facto immunity in conflict with the Legislature's expressed intent. The Legislature's waiver of immunity for the state and municipalities, enacted in the 1960s and codified at RCW 4.92.090 (the state) and RCW 4.96.010 (municipalities), is "one of the broadest waivers of sovereign immunity in the country." *Savage v. State*, 127 Wn.2d 434, 444, 899 P.2d 1270 (1995). The waiver of sovereign immunity is more than just consent to suit. *Kelso*, 63 Wn.2d at 918-19. The Legislature also established the scope of government liability, stating it

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