FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/20/2019 3:34 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97583-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 77531-6-I

KATHLEEN MANCINI,

Petitioner

v.

CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondent

RESPONDENT CITY OF TACOMA'S RESPONSE TO KATHLEEN MANCINI'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM C. FOSBRE, City Attorney

JEAN P. HOMAN WSB# 27084 Attorney for Respondent Tacoma City Attorney's Office 747 Market Street, Suite 1120 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 591-5885

I. Statement of the case

On January 4, 2011, the Pierce County Superior Court issued a controlled substance warrant for 28625 16th Avenue SW, Apartment B-1, *Kathleen Mancini's home*. Exhibit 103 (Complaint for Search Warrant, Apt. B-1); Exhibit 104 (Search Warrant, Apt. B-1). The warrant was obtained as part of a narcotics investigation conducted by the Tacoma Police Department Special Investigations Division (SID) as a result of information

_

¹ Plaintiff repeatedly refers to the officers "breaking into" Mancini's home and in the statement of the issues, refers to the execution of the warrant as "breaking and entering." These assertions go beyond simply presenting the facts in the most persuasive light possible. As this Court made clear in <u>Brutsche v. City of Kent</u>, 164 Wn.2d 664, 193 P.3d 110 (2008), the existence of a valid warrant creates a privilege to enter the premises for the purposes stated in the warrant. <u>Brutsche</u>, 164 Wn.2d at 675 ("...the privilege to execute an order of a court to do any act on the land 'carries with it the privilege to enter the land for the purposes of executing the order.""). Law enforcement can be liable in tort, however, if they exceed the scope of the privilege, which was the basis for the plaintiff's intentional tort claims in the instant case. The jury found for the City on all of the intentional tort claims, necessarily finding that the officers had not exceeded the scope of the warrant.

²Another example of plaintiff's hyperbole is found in her repeated reference to the confidential informant as a "drug user." While it is true that the confidential informant had a connection to drugs, such is usually true of confidential informants. Law abiding citizens rarely have viable information about criminal activity.

provided by a confidential informant (CI) who had successfully worked with SID officers in the past. <u>Id. See also</u> RP 48:15-24 (prior use of CI); RP 42:10-22 (information from CI); RP 57:6-18 (timing of information and warrant); RP 252:10 – RP 254:23 (information from CI). The CI told officers that the subject of the investigation, Matthew Logstrom, was selling methamphetamine, and that she had observed dealer-size quantities of methamphetamine in his vehicle and his apartment at the Sound View Terrace Apartments. Exhibit 103, p 2 (Mancini 000218); RP 252:10 – RP 254:23. The CI also told Officer Smith that "Matt" did not have anything related to his residence in his name and that he either lived with his mother or his mother rented the apartment for him. RP 220:10-18; RP 255:8-17.

Prior to obtaining the warrant, police vetted the informant's information and learned that Apartment B-1 was rented by Kathleen Mancini, an older white female *who was believed to be Logstrom's mother*. RP 52:9 – 53:1; RP 262:1 – 263:12. Additionally, when the CI directed officers to the apartment complex and pointed out the apartment (B-1), officers found Logstrom's car parked in front of the building where Apartment B-1 was located. RP 255:3 – 257:2. See also Exhibit 112 (photos of Charger taken by police prior to obtaining warrant).

As it turns out, the CI misidentified the apartment. The subject of the investigation, Matthew Logstrom, actually resided in the building next door, in Apartment A-1. RP 293:20-25. See also Exhibit 1, p 28-29 (Incident No. 110040415.4, pages 6 and 7 of 8); Exhibit 101 (Complaint for Search Warrant, Apt. A-1); Exhibit 102 (Search Warrant, Apt. A-1).

Following Division I's opinion in Mancini v. City of Tacoma, 188 Wn. App. 1006, 2015 WL 3562229 (2015)(hereinafter Mancini I), plaintiff's claims for negligence, assault and battery, false imprisonment and invasion of privacy claims proceeded to trial before a jury in the King County Superior Court. The jury found for the defendant on plaintiff's claims for invasion of privacy, false imprisonment, and assault and battery. CP 526. Plaintiff did not appeal the jury's verdict on these claims.

The jury found for the plaintiff on her claim of negligence. CP 526. At trial, however, plaintiff's theory of liability on the negligence claim was that officers should have done a controlled buy and should have done surveillance before obtaining and executing the search warrant on plaintiff's home. See, e.g., RP 7:19-25³; RP 738, lines 14-23⁴. Based on the theory of

-

³ During opening statement: "He didn't do any surveillance. He didn't do a controlled buy. And you will hear testimony that those are two things that are very, very important to do in any drug case before you go in front of the judge and you file an affidavit that says, I want a search warrant, and I want a search warrant for a particular apartment. Didn't happen in this case." RP 7:19-25.

⁴ During closing argument: "Now, this is the affidavit for the search warrant. Doesn't say anything about any investigation, other than driving the drug informant to the apartment parking lot and that they had his birthdate. They even had a picture of him, and they had some of his criminal history. This is the affidavit that they gave to the judge. It doesn't say a word about anything else they did to ascertain that they were going to the correct address,

liability pursued by plaintiff at trial, Division I concluded that plaintiff's negligence claim was a claim for negligent investigation and therefore, was not cognizable. Mancini v. City of Tacoma, No. 77531-6-I (hereinafter Mancini II). Division I reversed the judgment on the negligence claim and remanded for entry of judgment for the City on plaintiff's negligence claim.

II. Issue presented

Did Division I err by deciding that plaintiff's negligence claim, as presented at trial, was a negligent investigation claim and thus, not cognizable, where the alleged negligent acts were the police's failure to make a controlled buy and to conduct surveillance prior to obtaining a controlled substance warrant for plaintiff's home.

III. Discretionary Review is not warranted in this case.

Plaintiff argues that discretionary review in this case is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1)(conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court), RAP 13.4(b)(3)(significant constitutional question), and RAP 13.4(b)(4)(issue of substantial public interest). As outlined herein, none of these bases apply in the instant case, and discretionary review is not warranted. Division I's opinion in Mancini II is not a departure from existing law and does not involve any issues of public import that this Court and the appellate courts

because there's nothing in the incident report."

4

posit to you that you do not have one shred of evidence that they did anything else, not one,

and it doesn't say, gee, we didn't do any surveillance. We didn't do a controlled buy." RP 738:14-23. See also RP 728, lines 11-19: "...their idea of an investigation was to put this woman in a van and drive her through the parking lot of the complex that had four identical buildings. And she just points to – she just points to an apartment and says 'That's it.' And that is pretty much the extent of their investigation because, ladies and gentlemen, I will

have not already addressed. While Mancini II provides some refinement of the rule that states that common law claims of negligent investigation are not cognizable in Washington, Mancini II does not plow new ground. Plaintiff's petition for discretionary review should be denied.

A. This Court's analysis in Beltran-Serrano has no application to the instant case.

Plaintiff argues that this Court should grant review because Division I's opinion in Mancini II conflicts with this Court's decision in Beltran-Serrano, 193 Wn.2fd 537, 442 P.3d 608 (2019). Specifically, plaintiff argues that Beltran-Serrano establishes "a duty of reasonable care to avoid creating unreasonable risks of harm to persons and property" and that "this duty applies to police officers who choose to affirmatively direct their official acts at an individual." (emphasis added) Petition for Review, p. 8-9. Plaintiff's argument is premised on a misreading and a misapprehension of this Court's analysis in Beltran-Serrano.

The <u>Beltran-Serrano</u> court's analysis is grounded on the nature of the contact as this Court understood it: "[Officer Volk] did not have reasonable suspicion or probable cause to believe [Beltran-Serrano] was committing a crime." <u>Id</u>. at 541. In other words, a critical component of this Court's analysis in <u>Beltran-Serrano</u> was the fact that this was a consensual contact, and the officer was not acting in the performance of traditional law

enforcement functions. This context is vital to the Court's analysis, as it is the only way to reconcile the duty found to exist with the Court's statement that the statutorily imposed duty to "provide police services, enforce the law, and keep the peace" is owed to the public at large and therefore, not actionable in tort:

Recognizing such a duty does not open the door to potential tort liability for a city's statutorily imposed obligation to provide police services, enforce the law, and keep the peace. These statutory duties have always been, and will continue to be, nonactionable duties owed to the public at large.

(emphasis added) Beltran-Serrano, 193 Wn.2d at 551-52.

In her Petition for Review, plaintiff asserts – without analysis - that "Mancini's negligence claim was not based on the police's special statutory obligation to investigate crime." Petition, p. 14. This assertion makes no sense. In the instant case, officers were investigating a drug dealer (for the purposes of arresting him). As part of this criminal investigation, the officers obtained and executed a search warrant on Mancini's home. There is no rational way to construe this activity as anything other than the City's statutorily imposed duty to "provide police services, enforce the law, and keep the peace" statutorily imposed duty to "provide police services, enforce the law, and keep the peace"." See RCW 35.22.280(35) (2019)("Any city of the first class shall have power:...(35) To provide for

the punishment of all disorderly conduct, and of all practices dangerous to public health or safety, and to make all regulations necessary for the preservation of public morality, health, peace, and good order within its limits, and to provide for the arrest, trial, and punishment of all persons charged with violating any of the ordinances of said city."); Chapter 10.79 RCW (Searches and Seizures). As this Court made clear in Beltran-Serrano, "[t]hese statutory duties have always been, and will continue to be, nonactionable duties owed to the public at large."

Moreover, plaintiff's argument ignores a critical component of this Court's analysis in <u>Beltran-Serrano</u>. The duty that this Court found in <u>Beltran-Serrano</u> arose *because of the officer's direct interaction with Beltran-Serrano*:

Beltran-Serrano's negligence claims arise out of Officer Volk's direct interaction with him, not the breach of a generalized public duty. The City therefore owed Beltran-Serrano a duty in tort to exercise reasonable care. Recognizing such a duty does not open the door to potential tort liability for a city's statutorily imposed obligation to provide police services, enforce the law, and keep the peace. These statutory duties have always been, and will continue to be, nonactionable duties owed to the public at large. In this case, however, the specific tort duty owed to Beltran-Serrano arises from Officer Volk's affirmative interaction with him. The public duty doctrine does not apply to prevent the City from being found liable in tort.

(emphasis added) <u>Beltran-Serrano</u>, 193 Wn.2d at 551-52. In the instant case, there are no such direct interaction between the officers and the plaintiff

prior to the execution of the warrant. The only direct interaction that occurred between the officers and the plaintiff occurred <u>after</u> the warrant was executed, and as outlined in Section III.C, *infra*, this interaction was relevant to plaintiff's intentional tort claims, not her negligence claim.

Contrary to plaintiff's assertions, <u>Mancini II</u> does not conflict with this Court's opinion in <u>Beltran-Serrano</u>. <u>Beltran-Serrano</u> involved a very different circumstance, and addressed a very different claim. Thus, <u>Beltran-Serrano</u> is not a reason to grant discretionary review in this case.

B. Mancini II does not conflict with the public duty doctrine or create a new immunity, but rather, applies a well-established body of law on negligent investigation claims.

In support of her petition, plaintiff argues that Mancini II conflicts with "the proper analysis of common-law tort claims under the public duty doctrine," and that Mancini II "entrenches a de-facto immunity" for police negligence. Petition for Review, p. 12-16. A careful examination of plaintiff's arguments, however, shows that neither of these contentions have merit, as the Mancini II opinion is not based on either the public duty doctrine or an immunity. Further, a careful examination of Mancini II shows that in reaching its decision, Division I simply applied the well-established rule that common law negligent investigation claims against law enforcement are not cognizable in Washington.

To begin, the thrust of plaintiff's argument concerning the public duty doctrine is not entirely clear. See Petition for Review, p. 12-14. Plaintiff's assertion that some courts have treated the public duty doctrine as creating a need to show a "special duty," is both unfounded and irrelevant to Division I's decision in Mancini II. Washington courts have never treated the public duty doctrine as creating a need to show a "special duty" owed by government in order to impose tort liability against a governmental entity. Petition for Review, p. 13. While some courts' analysis of the doctrine has been less than precise, the case law makes it clear that the public duty doctrine is simply a recognition that the waiver of sovereign immunity was intended to expose governments to the same liability as private persons, but that some of the duties imposed on governments are unique to governments and not imposed on private persons. Washburn v. City of Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013); Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc'ns Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 871, 888-89, 288 P.3d 328 (2012)(Chambers, J., concurring). Thus, the public duty doctrine only applies to those duties unique to government.

More importantly, however, this analysis does not really help the plaintiff in the instant case. Plaintiff asserts that "Division I may have been tripped up by the police activity at issue," but fails to identify what portion of Division I's opinion involved a misapprehension of the public duty

doctrine. Petition for Review, p. 14. This failure is telling, especially since the only place in <u>Mancini II</u> where Division I mentions the public duty doctrine is in discussing Division I's ruling in *Mancini I*:

On appeal, we concluded that dismissal on summary judgment was proper as to her claims defamation and outrage, but unwarranted as to her remaining claims of negligence, battery, assault, false imprisonment, and invasion of privacy. Mancini I, No. 71044-3-I, slip op. at 11. Pertinently, we concluded that Mancini's negligence claim was not barre by the public duty doctrine, that the City had not established that she alleged a claim for negligence that encompassed only a noncognizable claim of negligent investigation, and there was sufficient evidence of a genuine dispute of material fact regarding her negligence claim to preclude summary judgment. Mancini I, No. 71044-3-I, slip. Op. at 18-19 n. 12.

Mancini II, slip op. at 5-6. This is the only reference in Mancini II to the public duty doctrine, and thus, it is clear that Division I did not rely on the public duty doctrine in reaching its decision in Mancini II.

Instead, in Mancini II, Division I properly focused on the well-developed body of law concerning the viability of negligent investigation claims against law enforcement. This body of law is <u>not</u> grounded in the public duty doctrine. Instead, Washington courts have decided that, for very sound policy reasons, common law claims of negligent investigation against law enforcement are simply not cognizable in this State:

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